

CRA/01

RATING METHODOLOGY - INDUSTRIAL CORPORATES

Practical guide to understanding concepts and evaluation techniques employed | 20 December 2014

Table of Contents

OVERVIEW	3
GOAL	3
Purpose	3
REPORT FEATURES	3
ABOUT THIS RATING METHODOLOGY	4
INDUSTRY CHARACTERISTICS AND OVERVIEW	6
METHODOLOGICAL APPROACH	8
FACTOR 1: MARKET POSITION	8
FACTOR 2: CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	10
FACTOR 3: STABILITY AND PROFITABILITY	11
FACTOR 4: FINANCIAL STRENGTH	13
DETERMINING THE FINAL RATING	14
APPENDIX B:	
RATING SCALE	Ϋ́
SCALL	
DISCLAIMER	19

February 13, 2015 Table of Contents

OVERVIEW

Goal

The methodology is intended to provide investors, issuers and other users of ratings with a reference tool that can be used when evaluating credit profiles of non-financial companies, hereinafter referred to as "industrial corporates". The methodology is not an exhaustive treatment of every factor that is reflected in Credit Rating Agency's ratings (CRA) of such companies. However, it should enable the reader to understand the key rating factors used by CRA in its rating determination for this type of issuers.

In the methodology, we consider industrial corporates as companies which either provide a service to third-parties, act as distributors of finished goods either as retailers directly to consumers or as wholesalers, as well as those that take output of the primary sector and manufacture finished goods for export, or sale to domestic consumers.

This general methodology includes a list of key qualitative and quantitative parameters that we use while analyzing this sector. There are other parameters that may not be included in this methodology but could be reflected in our ratings of corporates in specific sectors. However, the parameters mentioned in this document are what we consider the most important and common aspects or factors which CRA utilizes to arrive at an issuer rating of a corporate.

Purpose

A credit rating issued by CRA is an opinion of an obligor's credit worthiness. A rating is a metric for creditworthiness expressed on a relative scale. It is our published *opinion* on an obligor's ability and willingness to generate and sustain sufficient cash flow to cover its debt obligations. This is done in accordance to the deadlines and terms on which they borrowed.

Ratings also represent financial strength, probability of default, expected loss and transition volatility. It is to be noted though, that credit ratings are *not* to be viewed as projections of the credit quality of any specific loan, bond or other debt security.

We publish these ratings as an opinion of the corporates with our projections of its future; however we also plan to continue updating our assessments in light of significant changes in the company and economic conditions that may affect the company's credit quality.

Report Features

This rating criteria report covers:

- The overview of Corporates
- A detailed description of the Rating Criteria and key rating factors including the metrics for measuring their relative impact with their corresponding weights and other rating factors that might influence the final assigned rating.
- An Appendix including a detailed rating model.

The following Rating Criteria Report (RCR) details the methodology utilized by Credit Rating Agency Limited in assessing the credit quality of corporates.

About This Rating Methodology

This report explains the general methodology for corporates in several steps:

1. Identification of Key Rating Factors

CRA has identified four key rating factors as critical to the credit analysis of corporates:

- 1. Business Profile
- 2. Corporate Governance
- 3. Stability and Profitability
- 4. Financial Policy

Apart from these factors, we also observe other factors such as- management effectiveness, shareholder structure etc. This methodology should enable users to understand how we arrive at a final rating.

2. Measurement of Key Rating Factors

CRA's ratings are forward-looking, but the rating process extensively uses historical financial data in order to understand patterns and trends for a Company's performance as well as for peer comparison. While the rating process includes both historical and anticipated results, this document makes use of historical data only and does so for illustrative purposes.

The main data source for the majority of the rating factors are the financial statements of the Company. Apart from the financial statements, we would prompt the company to provide a detailed statement of debt, showing their maturity and other terms and conditions, financial forecasts and strategic or business plans available. A detailed study would be conducted onsite to provide more insight into the management factors viz. management quality and strategy, organizational structures, corporate governance, risk management, operational practices and procedures and client services.

Corporates can display unique features relating to credit, leverage, funding and liquidity, and other risks, which need to be taken into account when assessing their credit worthiness and which have an impact on the rating process. Analyzing different risk categories and their management is a critical step in assessing the creditworthiness of the corporates.

3. Mapping Rating Factors to Rating Categories

After identifying the measurement for each factor, the potential outcomes for each of the 16 sub-factors are mapped to a CRA rating category (i.e. AAA, AA, BBB, BB, B and CCC).

4. Determining the Final Rating

To determine the overall rating, the rating ranges for each factor are converted into numeric values based on the following scale.

AAA	AA	Α	BBB	ВВ	В	ccc
1	3	6	9	12	15	18

Each metric's value is multiplied by the respective assigned sub-factor weighting. For example, the value for "Scale" (e.g. for AA=3) is multiplied by 5% to arrive at a factor value of 0. 15

Table 1: Overall Grid Map

Rating Factors	Factor Weighting	Relevant Sub-Factor	Sub-Factor Weighting
		Scale	8%
2	2004	Product Diversity	8%
Business Profile	30%	Geographic diversification	5%
		Market Share	9%
		Dividend Policy	2.5%
Corporate Governance	10%	Shareholding Pattern	2.5%
corporate dovernance		Transparency	2.5%
		Structural Complexity	2.5%
		Operating Margin	10%
Stability & Profitability	30%	ROAA	10%
		Stability of EBITDA	10%
		EBITDA/ Interest	6%
		Leverage (Debt/ Equity)	6%
Financial Position	30%	Liquidity	6%
		FCF/Total Debt	6%
		(RCF-capex)/Total Debt	6%

The factor values for each key rating factor are then added together to arrive at the final rating score, which is mapped back to an indicative rating outcome. For example, an aggregate factor score of 9 would map to an indicative rating outcome of BBB.

Indicated Rating	Aggregated Factor Score
AAA	X ≤ 1.50
AA+	1.50 < X ≤ 2.5
AA	2.50 < X ≤ 3.5
AA-	3.50 < X ≤ 4.5
A+	4.50 < X ≤ 5.5
Α	5.50 < X ≤ 6.5
A-	6.50 < X ≤ 7.5
BBB+	7.50 < X ≤ 8.5
ВВВ	8.50 < X ≤ 9.5
BBB-	9.50 < X ≤ 10.5
BB+	10.50 < X ≤ 11.5
ВВ	11.50 < X ≤ 12.5
BB-	12.50 < X ≤ 13.5
B+	13.50 < X ≤ 14.5
В	14.50 < X ≤ 15.5
B-	15.50 < X ≤ 16.5
CCC+	16.50 < X ≤ 17.5
ссс	17.50 < X ≤ 18.5

In the event of deterioration that potentially leads to a ratings downgrade – e.g. a major change in liquidity due to an economic market crisis – CRA would focus on the specific circumstances of the Company and the factors impacting the key credit metrics to assess whether this situation is properly reflected in the rating matrix. Together with other qualitative factors, the indicative rating based on the grid outcome might be adjusted accordingly to better reflect the credit risk of the company under certain extreme market conditions. For standard economic conditions, the factor grid is expected to result in appropriate approximations for the credit risk of the corporate.

5. Applying the Rating Criteria

The rating score for a sub-factor may deviate from the overall indicative rating outcome for the company (i.e. it is an 'exception'). In those cases where the outcome of a sub-factor is more than two rating categories away from the indicative overall rating outcome, the specific corporate's rating report will provide a descriptive explanation as to the underlying factors which result in the exception.

INDUSTRY CHARACTERISTICS AND OVERVIEW

Overview

This sector generally takes the output of the primary sector and manufactures finished goods or where they are suitable for use by other businesses, for export, or sale to domestic consumers. This sector is often divided into light industry and heavy industry. Many of these industries consume large quantities of energy and require factories and machinery to convert the raw materials into goods and products. They also produce waste materials and waste heat that may pose environmental problems or cause pollution. The economists contend that an economy begins to decline as its wealth-producing sector shrinks. Manufacturing is an important activity to promote economic growth and development. Nations that export manufactured products tend to generate higher marginal GDP growth which supports higher incomes and marginal tax revenue needed to fund the quality of life initiatives such as health care and infrastructure in the economy.

The global output of the manufacturing sector is measured through IIP (Index of Industrial Production). The index is based on the prices of 18 industrial commodities that are tracked by the index. The IIP is not a weighted average, but a pure reflection of prices. It does not include agricultural commodities or precious metals such as gold or silver, but only materials that are used in industrial production, such as nickel, tin, aluminum, plywood, benzene, cotton, burlap and crude oil.

Industry Characteristics

Before evaluating a company's business factors, the industry specific factors are taken into considerations. Industry trends have an impact on the operating environment and the company's overall performance. The following characteristics, while not indented to be an exhaustive list, indicate the key areas considered in evaluating a company.

Vulnerability to economic cycles: Supply and demand for both the industry's major products and its production inputs are critical, as are other cyclical pressures that may affect prices. Trends in world energy prices, for example, have an obvious impact on oil producers, as well as a secondary impact on basic industry companies that require energy for production. A prolonged depression in mineral commodity prices, as another example, has resulted in weak mine company profitability despite mine closures and deferred capital expenditures and exploration costs.

Cyclical in nature: Industrial companies are susceptible to the general economic cycles and industry cycles. To understand the degree of cyclicality, factors such as industry maturity and strength of the economy are considered. It is also important to examine a company's strategies, correlation of its product portfolio and performance in the long term and understand them in the cyclical highs and lows.

Heavy Industrial companies and construction companies are more exposed to cyclical pressures as compared to the producers of electrical equipments. Also, cyclical exposure is mitigated for companies with a geographically diversified portfolio and product lines.

Barriers to entry: High barriers to entry are common for various industrial product markets. This is due to high costs associated with production or distribution facilities, limited sources of supply, strong market acceptance of the products or services of existing competitors and long gestation periods. High barriers hinder the entry of new competition into the market. This can substantially enhance the competitive position of an industrial company.

Building material companies have high entry barriers given the limited availability of raw materials, such as pits and quarries and high initial costs of entering a market. Whereas the entry barrier for some capital goods companies can be raised reflecting established leadership positions and high market shares, brand names, proprietary technologies and custom engineered products.

Capital Intensive: Industrial companies generally attract a high degree of fixed costs. This is primarily due to the high level of capital expenditures incurred on production and distribution network costs. A company's capital expenditure history, corporate history of strategic alliances to achieve economies of scale, upgrade and rationalizing operations to improve quality and lower operating unit costs are factored in while evaluating a company. These can provide an indication of the company's current and future productivity and efficiency.

Commodity Pricing: Generally, production of industrial products is highly energy and raw material intensive and producers are often exposed to volatile commodity costs. Raw material prices make up a significant share of an industrial company's cost mix.

We evaluate the company's ability to access low cost raw materials, hedging strategies and input-efficient production process. This can have a significant impact on the earnings of a company.

Vulnerability to technological changes: The duration of development and introduction cycles for major technologies in the industry are also assessed for their likely impact on product competitiveness. An evaluation of the importance of research and development can indicate how susceptible the industry is to rapid increases

in capital spending to meet competitive challenges. The degree to which patents offer competitive protection and the timing of their expiration may also be important

Domestic and global competition: The role of the emerging markets can be significant as well. In the metals and mining industry, for example, low cost ore bodies, which previously were not exploited due to historically higher sovereign risk and associated lack of investment capital, have lately come on line. This new supply can significantly alter global cost curves and create more difficult competitive environments for long-standing industry players. On the positive side, growth of population and spending power in overseas markets may offer new market opportunities.

Other important considerations: In addition to the above mentioned characteristics, each sub sector within the Industrials sector has certain unique features that cannot be broadly applied across all corporates. There are factors like national regulations, monetary policy and currency exchange rates, government guarantees and support, home-country business practices, event risk etc which are specific to each region or country that characterize the sector.

Main Activities of Entity

For the purpose of this methodology, the Industrial Sector includes companies which generate a majority of their total revenues and operating cash flows from the following business activities:

- Production of a heavy equipment and machinery for industrial uses and utilities
- Production of basic materials namely cement, concrete, aggregates, gypsum, bricks and roof tiles
- Production of basic chemicals and allied products
- Construction of buildings for commercial, residential or industrial purposes Industrial of components and finished products

METHODOLOGICAL APPROACH

We will be using the following factors in our methodology. It is to be noted that our rating method is not limited to these factors. We use qualitative and quantitative analysis to identify these factors :

- 1. Business Profile
- 2. Corporate Governance
- 3. Stability & Profitability
- 4. Financial Position

These four factors constitute sub-factors are based on CRA analysis. The sub-factors are parts of the factors, which are mentioned below.

Factor 1: Market Position

Importance- This factor is most closely aligned with the company's identity and evaluates the fundamentals. A Industrial company's profile is measured along four dimensions — scale, breadth of the product line, geographic reach and the market share of the company. The four sub-factors for the business profile are indicators of the company's market share, leadership, purchasing power, position and logistic approach, flexibility in operations and reduction of costs, enhanced ability to absorb smaller financial and process disruptions.

Sub-factor 1 – Scale

This corresponds to the total annual revenues of the company. This sub-factor acts as a good measure to check the productivity and size of the entity.

Sub-factor 2 – Product Diversity

This sub-factor measures the product diversity of the company's portfolio. An Industrial company can have many product lines from one sector. For eg: for paper companies, the company has lines like paper manufacturing, paper packaging, communication paper, tissue paper, market pulp and wood based building products. There are some companies who have diversified their core business segment into areas such as real estate development and consumer manufacturing. However, here we consider the company's product lines which contribute more than 10% of the revenue or EBIT.

• Sub-factor 3 - Geographic Diversity

This evaluates the geographic reach of the company in terms of regions which contribute to more than 10% of the revenue or EBIT. For eg- We consider Kuwait , Bahrain and UAE as a part of GCC but as three separate regions and if their contributions are more than 10% of EBIT or revenue, we measure this sub-factor as three.

Sub-factor 4 – Market Position

This sub-factor has a qualitative approach in assessing the business profile of the Industrial Company. This is an important indicator of credit quality for the highly cyclical and competitive industries. A company's market share and barriers to entry are expected to impact the cash flows and margins of the company. This assesses the sustainability and defensibility of the company's business model. A strong market position and barriers to entry in a regional market or segment implies more robust pricing and purchasing power against its peers.

Barriers to entry can be provided by the following characteristics:

- > **Economies of scale** is more beneficial for bigger companies than smaller companies and new start ups
- > Regulatory qualifications and legislative requirements by local authorities
- > High start up costs prevent new competitors from easily entering an industry or area of business
- > Technological patents or patents on business processes,
- Highly cash intensive companies
- > Strong customer loyalty or high customer switching costs.
- > Globalization makes entry of local players into the market more difficult than for global companies

We evaluate this sub-factor by analyzing the relative market share in key markets and segments as well as assessment of barriers of entry. The three characteristics used to measure barrier to entry are:

- Market position, since market is more stable for bigger players than smaller players
- Good track record for on-time and on-budget project management
- Reputation for managing longer term projects with a high degree of complexity and technological competence

Measurement Grid

This factor has four sub-factors to be taken into consideration for arriving at the final rating. Each sub-factor has a corresponding rating as mentioned below.

Score	AAA	AA	Α	BBB	ВВ	В	ССС
Scale (revenues in KWD bn)	>10	10 to 6	5.9 to 4	3.9 to 2	1.9 to 0.9	0.9 to 0.1	< 0.1
Product diversity	>= 6	5	4	3	2	:	1
Geographic diversity	>=6	5	4	3	2	:	1
Market Position	#1 & #2 in majority of	#1 & #2 in majority of	Among top 3 in core	#3-5 in fragmented	#3-5 in fragmented	Niche player. Revenue	Niche player. NO barriers

the	the segments	market	market/segments.	market/segments.	protected by	to entry.
segments in	in key	segments.	Revenue	Revenue	1 level of	
key market.	market.	Majority of	protected by at	protected at least	barrier to	
Majority of	Majority of	revenue	least 2 levels of	one levels of	entry	
revenues	revenues	protected	barriers to entry	barriers to entry		
protected	protected by	by at least				
by 3 levels	2 levels of	2 levels of				
of barrier to	barrier to	barriers to				
entry	entry	entry				

Factor 2: Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance focus on the firm's overall shareholder versus creditor orientation, which manifests itself through four sub-factors:

- Dividend Policy
- Transparency
- Shareholder Protection
- Structural Complexity

For these factors, CRA has attached weight to objective measurability as well as to more subjective and less transparent sub-components such as quality of ownership or management experience.

The measurement for each of the four sub-factors is generally based on information available in a company's public financial statements and through due diligence meetings with the firm's management.

- Sub-factor 1: Dividend Policy Average payout over the past three years and prospective two years
- **Sub-factor 2: Shareholder Protection** Public information and qualitative assessment of shareholder rights in the CRA. areas of voting and minority rights, board of directors election, composition and oversight, and management quality.
- **Sub-factor 3 :Transparency** Existence of a publicly communicated target for market-based leverage tolerance and a commitment to adhere to target via sale of assets, reduction of leverage
- Sub-factor 4: Structural Complexity Indicators:
 - Share cross-holdings among participations
 - → Intercompany transactions among participations and/or holding and participations
 - → Related-party transactions of shareholders of the Houses
 - Multiple debt-funding entities, i.e. participations within the holding's portfolio provide funding
 - among themselves
 - > Only local GAAP audited financial statements of the consolidated and individual accounts

A factor score is derived depending on the number of indicators that are significant. 'Significant' means that the indicator is either present or not (such as local GAAP financial statements) or is expected to have a material impact on the credit risk of the company (such as a certain amount of intercompany transactions). We presume that the more complex the group is, the less clear-cut the separation of the firm from the rest of the group or its shareholders becomes and the more likely it is that the credit risk of the holding company will be potentially affected by other factors that have a negative impact on the overall credit quality. (At the extreme, this might actually prompt CSR to consider the Investment House as a conglomerate and hence modify our analytical approach as the risk of credit contagion between the holding company and its individual investments becomes significant.)

Measurement Grid

	Parameters	Low Category Component Points: 1	Medium Category Component Points: 3.5	High Category Component Points: 6
Dividend Policy	Past 3 yrs, prospective 2 yrs	Less conservative: (>50% of distributable income)	Moderate: (>20% - >50% of distributable income)	Conservative: (<20% of distributable income)
Shareholder Protection	Indicators: a) Voting rights b) Cumulative voting c) Independence of BoD d) Executive chairman e) Risk management	Significance of 0-1 indicators	Significance of 2-3 indicators	Significance of 4-5 Indicators
Transparency	Financial Policy	No public transparency in financial policy (no public target of market based leverage tolerance / no public commitment to adhere to target via sale of assets, reducing of leverage, etc.)	Moderate public transparency in financial policy (public target of market based leverage tolerance / no public commitment to adhere to target via sale of assets, reducing of leverage, etc.)	No public transparency in financial policy (public target of market based leverage tolerance / public commitment to adhere to target via sale of assets, reducing of leverage, etc.)
Structural Complexity	indicators: a) Share cross holdings b) Intercompany transactions c) Related party transactions d) Multiple debt funding entities e) Only local GAAP audited financial statements	Significance of 4-5 indicators	Significance of 2-3 indicators	Significance of 0-1 Indicators

CRA uses three different rating component points (1, 3.5, 6) for each sub-factor to arrive at a total factor score. The total factor score is then mapped to rating categories as mentioned below

Mapping of Rating Factor Points to Rating Scale

AAA	AA	А	BBB	ВВ	В	CCC
24	<24-22	<22-18	<18-12	<12-6	<6-3	<3

Factor 3: Stability and Profitability

Importance- This factor measures the efficiency, consistency and the return earned for the company. This is a function of the companies size, efficiency, management effectiveness, cost of raw materials, capital invested, production cost etc. Further, with low leverage and the finance costs reducing, the entity is in a better credit quality position. The company's cash position, business cycle are all valuable information. This factor helps in evaluating the performance and efficiency of the company in spite of irregular market trends.

We use three sub-factor to measure the cost position of the company

- Operating Margin
- Return on Average Assets
- Stability of EBITDA Margin

The description of the sub-factors is as mentioned below.

• Sub-Factor 1: Operating Margin

This measures the company's pricing strategy and management efficiency. Operating margin is a measurement of what proportion of a company's revenue is left over after paying for variable costs of production such as wages, raw materials, etc. A healthy operating margin is required for a company to be able to pay for its fixed costs, such as interest on debt. This is an important measure for all industrial companies as this is a measurement of the funds a company generated from its operations.

We take a three year average of the average of the operating income and divide the revenue, scale to the corresponding rating table. To maintain stability in ratings in different economic environments, we take a three year average

Sub-factor 2 : Return on Average Assets

This sub-factor takes into account the capital intensive nature of the company and helps in measuring the company's ability to generate meaningful return from its assets. This is a critical measurement for analyzing the underlying operational profitability of the company. ROAA therefore gives us valuable insight into management's execution ability, by measuring their capacity to continue investing in the right assets to derive value from the business.

We measure this by dividing the EBIT over the average assets for the last three years and this is scaled to the corresponding rating grid. The use the average assets for three years to maintain stability in rating in different environments

Sub-Factor 3 : Stability of EBITDA

The stability of the profit margin is an integral component of a comprehensive risk assessment in this industry given that financial results for Industrial companies are very volatile, and volatility indicates risk. Since Industrial companies are consumers of input materials like crude oil, steel, wood, metals chemicals, electricity, water etc and as input prices are likely to be affected by the same macroeconomic conditions that influence output prices. The fluctuation in fixed costs can impact the EBITDA of the company. The more stable the EBITDA of the company, the higher the credit quality.

We use the three year percentage variability of EBITDA/Sales. We use historical figures, measuring change in EBITDA margin from one year to the next over a period of three years. In cases where the value is negative, the value is doubled and the absolute value of the resulting figure is used to calculate the average of observation over a period of three years.

Measurement Grid

The three factors are scaled to the rating grid as below

	AAA	AA	А	ВВВ	ВВ	В	CCC
Operating Margin	>40%	30%-40%	20%-30%	10%-20%	5%-10%	0%-5%	<0%
ROAA	>20%	15%-20%	10-14.9%	7%-9.9%	4%-6.9%	3.9%-0.5%	<0.5%
EBITDA Stability	<0.5%	0.51% - 1.00%	1.1% to 3.4%	3.5%-5.8%	5.9%-8.2%	8.3%-10.9%`	>11

Factor 4: Financial Strength

Importance

The financial strength checks the ability of the company to withstand any financial crunch in the future and speaks about the current ability to repay its creditors. The Industrial companies need to generate sufficient earnings and cash flow to cover their capital expenditure, in addition to dividends, interest expense and debt amortization. We consider five ratios which are based on earnings, cash flow, debt availed and the financial policy of the company

• Sub-factor 1 : Interest Coverage

This ratio is a measure of the number of times a company could make the interest payments on its debt. The higher the company's debt burden, the greater the possibility of bankruptcy or default and lower would be the interest coverage ratio. While this ratio is a good measure for companies in speculative grade, this also holds good for companies where the interest rate keeps changing in the economy.

This is calculated by dividing the EBIT over the interest costs. We get a better judgment of companies if the financial ratios are taken for more than three years as this gives us a holistic view of the company.

• Sub-factor 2 : Liquidity

This is a measure to check the financial flexibility and the cushion that a company has to quickly meet known and unknown demands on cash. This also speaks about the management's strategy of managing, reserving and controlling funds for sudden repayment or more investments. The management's decision to keep cash and other reliable sources of liquidity, such as committed credit lines, may be an indication of liquidity planning and providing for unexpected liquidity. This will support the credit quality of the company.

This is calculated by dividing the current assets by the current liabilities

• Sub-factor 3: Leverage

The Industrial companies are characterized as highly capital intensive and being highly leveraged. A measure of a company's financial leverage is calculated by dividing its total liabilities by stockholders' equity. It indicates what proportion of equity and debt the company is using to finance its assets. A high debt/equity ratio generally means that a company has been aggressive in financing its growth with debt. This can result in volatile earnings as a result of the additional interest expense. This is an important indicator to check the credit quality of a company. This is evaluated by dividing its total liabilities by stockholders' equity

• Sub-factor 4 : Free cash flow to total debt

This ratio is important as it measures the financial strength of the company keeping in mind the potential cash flow volatility for the company. For Industrial companies, strong and stable sources of funding are the best cash flow indicators, thereby upgrading their credit profile. This helps to measure that the company's operations are generating enough cash flow to cover its current liabilities.

This is calculated by three-year average of free cash flow (Cash flow from operations after payment of dividends and capital expenditure) to gross debt.

• Sub-Factor 5: (RCF-capex)/ total debt

Industrial companies are highly capital intensive and have huge assets of plant and machinery. The company uses many funds to acquire physical assets such as property, industrial buildings or equipment for their operation purposes which leads to increase in their capital expenditure. This ratio is significant for the company because of the high value of funds spend towards capital expenditure. It measures the cash flow left after the company has accounted for the capital expenditure and other variable costs.

We calculated this by deducting the capital expenditure for the year from the retained cash flow, the total debt is divided from the value.

Measurement Grid

The sub-factors are rated according to the rating grid mentioned below

	AAA	AA	А	BBB	ВВ	В	ссс
Interest Coverage	>20x	15x-20x	10x-14.9x	5x-9.9x	2x-4.9x	1x-1.9x	<1x
Liquidity	>6x	5x-6x	4x-5x	3x-4x	2x-3x	1x-2x	<1x
Leverage	<10%	10%-20%	20%-30%	30%-40%	40%-50%	50%-60%	>60%
Free cash flow/total debt	>40%	39%-30%	29%—20%	19%-10%	10%-2.5%	2.5%-0.5%	<0.5%
RCF-capex/total debt	>30%	29%-20%	19%-10%	9%-5%	4%-2%	1%-0.5%	<0.5%

Determining the Final Rating

To arrive at our ratings, CRA uses historical data to arrive at the key factors and sub-factors that characterize the industry and their respective weights. Once we determine the Entity's rating on a sub-factor, we look to the sub-factor's weighting on the sub-factor mapping grid and assign its weight accordingly. The logic behind this is that sub-factors with lower scores will affect the Company more so than a sub-factor with a higher score and therefore should weigh more in the overall credit rating. The mapped score of each sub-factor will then be multiplied by its respective sub-factor weight age in the rating methodology grid. After this is completed for each sub-factor, we calculate the sum of weighted average and map that to the overall rating grid and arrive at a final rating for the Industrial Company.

Table 2: Rating Grid

Table 2: Ratin	8 0								
Sub-Factor	Weight	AAA	AA	Α	ВВВ	ВВ	В	ссс	
				Market Posi	tion (20%)				
Scale (KWD bn)	5%	>10	10 to 6	5.9 to 4	3.9 to 2	1.9 to 0.9	0.9 to 0.1	< 0.1	
Product diversity	5%	>= 6	5	4	3	2	1	1	
Geographic diversification	5%	>=6	5	4	3	2	1	1	
Vertical Integration	5%	#1 & #2 in majority of the segments in key market. Majority of revenues protected by 3 levels of barrier to entry	#1 & #2 in majority of the segments in key market. Majority of revenues protected by 2 levels of barrier to entry	Among top 3 in core market segments. Majority of revenue protected by at least 2 levels of barriers to entry	#3-5 in fragmented market/segments. Revenue protected by at least 2 levels of barriers to entry	#3-5 in fragmented market/segments. Revenue protected at least one levels of barriers to entry	Niche player. Revenue protected by 1 level of barrier to entry	Niche player. NO barriers to entry.	
				Corporate Gove	ernance (20%)				
Quality of Management	20%		High		Medium		Low		
				Stability & Profi	itability (30%)				
Operating Margin	10%	>40%	30%-40%	20%-30%	10%-20%	5%-10%	0%-5%	<0%	
ROAA	10%	>20%	15%-20%	10-14.9%	7%-9.9%	4%-6.9%	3.9%-0.5%	<0.5%	
EBITDA Stability	10%	<0.5%	0.51% - 1.00%	1.1% to 3.4%	3.5%-5.8%	5.9%-8.2%	8.3%-10.9%`	>11	
				Financial Stre	ngth (30%)				
Interest Coverage	6%	>20x	15x-20x	10x-14.9x	5x-9.9x	2x-4.9x	1x-1.9x	<1x	
Current Liquidity(CA/CL)	6%	>6x	5x-6x	4x-5x	3x-4x	2x-3x	1x-2x	<1x	
Leverage(Debt/Equity)	6%	<10%	10%-20%	20%-30%	30%-40%	40%-50%	50%-60%	>60%	
FCF/total debt	6%	>40%	39%-30%	29—20%	19%-10%	10%-2.5%	2.5%-0.5%	<0.5%	
(RCF-Capex) / total debt	6%	>30%	29%-20%	19-10%	9%-5%	4%-2%	1%-0.5%	<0.5%	

Other Rating Considerations

Although Capital Standard's considers other factors in addition to those discussed above, in most cases the metrics presented herein will enable a good approximation of our view on the credit quality of companies in this sector. The other rating factors which including the future operating & financial performance that may vary from the historical performance, financial and accounting policies, acquisition strategies, event risk and seasonality. Risk management is also a key factor for Industrial companies. The analysis of these factors remains an integral part of our rating process and can have a significant impact on the rating outcome.

To sum up for the final rating, the methodology and other rating factors are taken into consideration. The metrics gives us a good approximation of the company's financial strength and credit quality

APPENDIX B: Rating Scale

Long-Term Credit Ratings

Investm	ent Grade
AAA	An issuer/issue with an 'AAA' credit rating is classified as the <i>highest</i> rating by CRA when compared to its peers. The issuer/issue is highly unlikely to be affected by adverse changes in the environment and economic conditions*.
AA	An issuer/issue with an 'AA' credit rating is classified as a <i>very strong</i> rating by CRA when compared to its peers. The issuer/issue is slightly susceptible to the changes in the environment and economic conditions.
A	An issuer/issue with an 'A' credit rating is classified as a strong rating by CRA when compared to it peers. The issuer/issue is susceptible to adverse changes in the environment and economic conditions. These changes can affect the debt servicing capabilities to an extent that is rendered weaker than those rated 'AA' and 'AAA'.
BBB	An issuer/issue with a 'BBB' credit rating is classified as <i>adequate</i> rating by CRA when compared to its peers. The issuer/issue is influenced by changes in the environment and economic conditions. These changes can affect the debt servicing capabilities to an extent that is rendered weaker than those rated 'A', 'AA' and 'AAA'.
Specula	tive Grade
ВВ	An issuer/issue with a 'BB' credit rating is classified as a <i>less than adequate</i> rating by CRA when compared to its peers. The issuer/issue is strongly influenced by changes in the environment and economic conditions. This could lead to deterioration in an issuer/issue's capacity to meet its financial obligation to an extent that is rendered relatively weaker than the ones rated under the Investment Grade.
В	An issuer/issue with a 'B' credit rating is classified as a weak rating by CRA when compared to its peers. The issuer/issue could suffer impairment in its debt service capacity due to changes in the environment and economic conditions. Their willingness to service debt obligations could also get subdued.
ccc	An issuer/issue with a 'CCC' credit rating is classified as a very weak rating by CRA when compared to its peers. The issuer/issue generally has lower tolerance towards unexpected swings in the environment and economic conditions. As a result, their debt servicing capacity is dependent upon favorable environment and economic conditions.
СС	An issuer/issue with a 'CC' credit rating is classified by CRA as a rating with a very high default probability when compared to its peers. The issuer/issue generally has fragile and uncertain cash flows, as well as other factors, making them very vulnerable to nonpayment.
С	An issuer/issue with a 'C' credit rating is classified as on the verge of default by CRA when compared to its peers. The issuer/issue is extremely susceptible to breaching its debt covenants and the likelihood of them filing for bankruptcy is very high. Hence, they become highly qualified for nonpayment.
R	An issuer is under <i>regulatory supervision</i> due to its financial situation. During the regulatory supervision, the regulators can favor some obligations over others or issue the payment of some obligations and not others. (Rating applicable to issuers only)
SD	An issuer has selectively defaulted due to failure in payment within the due date. (Rating applicable to issuers only)
D	An issuer/issue with a 'D' credit rating has <i>defaulted</i> . The issuer/issue failed to pay its obligation within the due date even if the applicable grace period has not expired. However, this does not apply if there is evidence that such payments will be made during the grace period. The 'D' rating would also be assigned to an issuer filing for bankruptcy or taking similar actions.
NR	An issuer/issue is not rated because either a rating wasn't requested, lack of sufficient information, or CRA does not rate the issuer/issue as a matter of policy.

^{*} Environment and economic conditions, such as political, business, financial, commercial and demographic factors.

Short-Term Credit Ratings

Investment Grade	
S-A1	An issuer/issue's capacity to meet its financial commitment is at its <i>highest</i> .
S-A2	An issuer/issue's capacity to meet its financial commitment is strong . It is, however, susceptible to adverse economic conditions.
S-A3	An issuer/issue's capacity to meet its financial commitment is <i>satisfactory</i> due to adverse economic conditions.
Speculative Grade	
S-B	An issuer/issue's capacity to meet its financial commitment is weak . It faces major ongoing uncertainties that could impact its financial commitment.
S-C	An issuer/issue's capacity to meet its financial commitment is <i>very vulnerable to non-payment</i> . It is dependent upon favorable business, financial and economic conditions to meet its financial commitments.
S-D	An issuer/issue is in payment <i>default</i> . Issue is not made on due date and grade period may not have expired. The rating is also used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition.

Additional Indicators to Credit Ratings

- + or The plus (+) and the minus (-) signs show relative positioning of an issuer/issue within the major rating categories. (Used in Long-Term Ratings only)
- CW The *CreditWatch* placement indicates that CRA is *currently* considering changing the rating due to an event or deviation occurring that might affect the credit worthiness. Such events could be mergers, acquisitions, regulatory actions, etc. However, it is to be noted, that a placement on credit watch does not mean that a change in the rating is imperative. A watch could be positive, negative or affirmed.**
- CO A *Credit Outlook* indicates the direction a rating is likely to move *over a one or two-year period*. An outlook reflects financial or other deviations that have not yet reached the level that would trigger a rating action, but which may do so if the trend continues. An outlook may be either stable, positive, negative, or evolving.**
- WR A Withdrawn Rating signifies the removal of a rating on either the issuer or the issue being rated. A withdrawal could be due to inadequate information, bankruptcy, reorganization, liquidation, certain business reasons, or an issue or obligation reaching its maturity.***
- SR A Suspended Rating signifies the rating being placed on hold at an intermediate stage before the occurrence of a withdrawal. A suspension could be due to the issuer failing to provide information required for the rating process or revision.
- (pi) This modifier is appended to a rating solely based on *public information*.

** Credit Watches and Outlooks:

Credit Watch

Positive indicates a potential upgrade in the rating.

Negative indicates a potential downgrade in the rating.

Evolving indicates rating may be raised, lowered, or affirmed.

Credit Outlook

Stable indicates a rating is not liable to change over a one or two-year period.

Positive indicates a possibility of an upgrade in the rating over a one or two-year period.

Negative indicates a possibility of a downgrade in the rating over a one or two-year period.

Evolving indicates a possibility of the trend having conflicting elements, both positive and negative.

It is to be noted that ratings that are not on Credit Watch or Outlook can be upgraded or downgraded if circumstances warrant such an action.

***Reasons for assigning Withdrawn Rating (WR):

- Inadequate Information: A rating can be withdrawn due to lack of insufficient information to assess the creditworthiness of an issuer/issue effectively. This would typically hold in situations where the issuer declines to provide information requested by CRA and CRA cannot otherwise obtain the necessary information through other public means.
- Bankruptcy/Reorganization/Liquidation: If an issuer/issue defaults, goes bankrupt, goes into reorganization or is liquidated, CRA would no longer have a reason to maintain the issuer/issue's rating.
- Business Reasons: CRA can withdraw a rating for reasons other than bankruptcy or inadequate information. In this situation, CRA will weigh the market needs against the cost of maintaining and monitoring the rating.
- Maturity of Obligation: A rating is withdrawn when the rated obligation has matured.

Disclaimer

CRA has exclusive proprietary rights in the data or information provided herein. This data/information may only be used internally for business purposes and shall not be used for any unlawful or unauthorized purposes. Dissemination, distribution or reproduction of this data/information in any form is strictly prohibited except with the prior written permission of CRA. Because of the possibility of human or mechanical error by CRA does not guarantee the accuracy, adequacy, completeness or availability of any information and is not responsible for any errors or omissions or for the results obtained from the use of such information. CRA gives no express or implied warranties, including, but not limited to, any warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose or use. In no event shall CRA be liable for any direct, indirect, special or consequential damages in connection with subscribers or others use of the data/information contained herein. Access to the data or information contained herein is subject to termination in the event any agreement with a third-party of information or software is terminated.

Reproduction or retransmission in whole or in part is prohibited except by permission. All rights reserved. CRA has established policies and procedures to maintain the confidentiality of non-public information received during the rating process. CRA is not engaged in the offer or sale of any security. A report providing a CRA rating is neither a prospectus nor a substitute for the information assembled, verified and presented to investors by the issuer and its agents in connection with the sale of the securities. Ratings may be changed, suspended, or withdrawn at anytime for any reason in the sole discretion of CRA.